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 Defendants UnitedHealthcare Insurance Company (“UHIC”), United 

HealthCare Services, Inc. (“UHS”), UMR, Inc. (“UMR”), Oxford Health Plans, 

Inc. (“Oxford”), Sierra Health and Life Insurance Co., Inc. (“SHL”), Sierra Health-

Care Options, Inc. (“SHO”), and Health Plan of Nevada, Inc. (“HPN”) 

(collectively, “Defendants”), by and through their attorneys of record, WEINBERG, 

WHEELER, HUDGINS, GUNN & DIAL, LLC, hereby submits this Appendix In 

Support Of Petitioners’ Motion To Stay The Underlying District Court Case 

Pending Resolution Of Its Petition For Writ Of Prohibition, Or, Alternatively, 

Mandamus. 
 

Exhibit Description Vol. No. Page No. 

1.  A:  Defendants’ Motion to Stay Proceedings 
Pending Resolution of Writ Petition on Order 
Shortening Time 

1 00001-00058 

 B.  Plaintiffs’ Opposition to Defendants’ Motion to 
Stay Proceedings Pending Resolution of Writ 
Petition on Order Shortening Time 

1 00059-00069 

2.  Hearing Transcript 09/09/2020  1 00070-00135 

3.  Order Denying Defendants’ Motion to Stay 
Proceedings Pending Resolution of Writ Petition on 
Order Shortening Time 09/23/2020 

1 00136-00146 

4.  Order Directing Answer  1 00147-00149 

5.  A.  Defendants’ Renewed Motion to Stay 
Proceedings Pending Resolution of Writ Petition on 
Order Shortening Time 

1-2 00150-00217 

 B.  Plaintiffs’ Opposition to Defendants’ Renewed 
Motion to Stay Proceedings Pending Resolution of 
Writ Petition on Order Shortening Time 

2 00218-00232 

 C.  Defendants’ Reply in support of Renewed 
Motion to Stay Proceedings Pending Resolution of 
Writ Petition on Order Shortening Time 

2 00233-00242 

6.  Order Denying Defendants’ Renewed Motion to 
Stay Proceedings Pending Resolution of Writ 
Petition on Order Shortening Time, 10/21/2020 

2 00243-00253 
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7.  Hearing Transcript 10/08/2020 2 00254-00338 

8.  Order Granting, in Part, Plaintiffs’ Motion to 
Compel Defendants’ Production of claims file for 
At-Issue Claims, or, In the Alternative, Motion in 
Limine, 09/28/2020 

2 00339-00351 

9.  Declaration of Jane Stalinski 2 00352-00354 

10.  Declaration of Sandra Way 2 00355-00363 

11.  Order Granting Plaintiffs’ Motion to Compel 
Defendants’ Defendants’ List of Witnesses, 
Production of Documents and Answers to 
Interrogatories on Order Shortening Time, 
10/27/2020 

2 00364-00373 
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RTRAN 

 

 

 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 
FREMONT EMERGENCY 
SERVICES (MANDAVIA) LTD.,  
 
                    Plaintiff(s), 
 
vs. 
 
UNITED HEALTHCARE 
INSURANCE COMPANY,   
 
                    Defendant(s). 

 
) 
)
)
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

    
CASE NO:  A-19-792978-B 
 
DEPT.  XXVII      
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
BEFORE THE HONORABLE NANCY ALLF, DISTRICT COURT JUDGE 

 
WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 9, 2020 

 

RECORDER’S TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS 

RE:  PENDING MOTIONS 

 

 

APPEARANCES (VIA VIDEO CONFERENCE):   

 

    For the Plaintiff(s):  PATRICIA K. LUNDVALL, ESQ. 

AMANDA PERACH, ESQ.  

 

    For the Defendant(s): D. LEE ROBERTS JR., ESQ. 

      COLBY L. BALKENBUSH, ESQ. 

       

   RECORDED BY:  BRYNN WHITE, COURT RECORDER 

 

Case Number: A-19-792978-B

Electronically Filed
9/11/2020 2:29 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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LAS VEGAS, NEVADA; WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 9, 2020 

[Proceedings convened at 10:44 a.m.] 

 

 

THE COURT:  I am sure you will need at least an hour.  The 

Motion to Stay will determine the other two motions.  I see that there 

number of pro hac vice.  Are you guys available and willing to come 

back at 1:30.   

MS. LUNDVALL:  Yes, Your Honor.  On behalf of Fremont, 

the plaintiffs in this action, we are willing to come back at 1:30.  

MR. ROBERTS:  Yes, Your Honor.  On behalf of the 

defendants, Lee Roberts, we are willing to come back at 1:30.  

THE COURT:  I thank you for your professional courtesy.  My 

biggest fear is being a judge is that people don't get their chance to 

be heard.  So thank you very much for being willing to be flexible.  

[Recess taken from 10:45 a.m. until 1:29 p.m.]  

THE COURT:  -- 1:29, but I'm going to assume that Fremont 

versus United is ready to go.  Is the representative for the plaintiff 

here to -- who can tell me that you're ready.   

MS. LUNDVALL:  Yes, Your Honor.  Pat Lundvall for 

McDonald Carano, along with Amanda Perach, here on behalf of the 

plaintiff.  And we are ready to go (indiscernible) -- I just want to let 

you know that Ms. Gallagher, Kristen Gallagher, expresses her 

regrets for not being able to attend today's hearing.  

THE COURT:  Thank you.   

Is there a representative for the defendant who can tell me 
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you're ready to go?  Mr. Roberts?  Okay.   

MR. BALKENBUSH:  Colby Balkenbush, Your Honor, for the 

defendants.  I believe Mr. Roberts should be on as well.  Let me check 

on that.  He's on.  He's on.   

THE COURT:  Mr. Roberts, you're there?   

I don't see him, Mr. Balkenbush.   

MR. BALKENBUSH:  And I apologize.  Let me send him an 

email real quick.  He was just emailing me a second ago so he should 

be on.   

THE COURT:  All right.  Well, let's wait just a moment until 

he can join us.   

MS. LUNDVALL:  We hope the Court got some lunch.  

THE COURT:  It's been a long day.  I had a cookie; does that 

count?   

MS. LUNDVALL:  Well, it depends upon in who's world 

we're talking.  

THE COURT:  Perhaps, Brynn, you can let us know when 

Mr. -- oh, I see Mr. Roberts is on the phone.   

Mr. Roberts --  

MR. ROBERTS:  Hi, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  Are you there?   

MR. ROBERTS:  I am.  Can you hear me?   

THE COURT:  I can.  Good enough.  I didn't want to start 

without you --  

MR. ROBERTS:  I appreciate that.  
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THE COURT:  Okay.  So the first motion is your Motion for 

Stay, and we'll take that first because it'll affect how we proceed.  

Motion for Stay, please.  

MR. ROBERTS:  Thank you, Your Honor.  Lee Roberts for the 

defendants with regard to the Motion for Stay.   

The brief that we have submitted to the Court does go 

through the factors that the Court should consider in determining 

whether to grant a stay.  Under Rule 8, the Court needs to consider 

whether the object of the writ petition would be defeated if the stay 

was denied; number two, whether the petitioner will suffer 

irreparable or serious injury if the stay is denied; three, (indiscernible) 

party of interest will suffer irreparable or serious injury if the stay is 

granted; and, finally, whether the petitioner is likely to prevail on the 

merits in the writ petition.   

And, although, the Nevada Supreme Court is not prescribed 

any particular weight, which must be given to any of these stay 

factors, it has recognized that certain factors may be especially strong 

and counterbalance other weak factors.  So it's more a totality of the 

circumstances based on all four of those factors.   

I don't have to deal long with the likelihood of prevailing on 

the writ petition.  Obviously, since the -- this Court has made a 

decision and we're seeking writ on that decision, the Court has 

already determined that we're not likely to prevail.  But I think that 

there's still a question of how strong that factor is in the Court's mind 

under the petition that we've alleged.  In other words, was this a slam 
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dunk or was this a close question which the Court could see leaving 

room for a good faith disagreement in the possibility that the Court 

might grant the writ?   

And just on these very same issues, we have a very similar 

dispute that was pending before the District Court of Nevada, the 

federal court in this case, which resulted in remand.  But, essentially, 

examining the exact same issues and claims, the Court in Arizona 

found it was appropriate to dismiss.  And there is contrary authority 

that's been cited in both the briefs.   

So I think that in looking at this factor, the Court should 

understand that it is a close question and that despite this Court's 

findings, there is a reasonable chance that the Nevada Supreme 

Court might agree with us and grant the writ.   

So the question then turns to the other factors.  And rather 

than repeat what's already in our brief, I'd like to sort of focus -- since 

we did -- the opposition brief was just filed yesterday, and we did not 

get a chance to file a reply.  I thought I would go through some of the 

case law this morning and try to focus on the arguments that the 

Court has not yet heard and our reply to the points and authorities 

raised in the opposition.   

The first case I'd like to discuss is Dignity Health v. 8th 

Judicial District Court, which is 465 P.3d 1182.  That was cited for the 

proposition that the Nevada Supreme Court generally will not 

consider repetitions challenging orders denying Motions to Dismiss.   

First of all, this is an unpublished case; so it's -- only can be 
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looked to by the Court for it's persuasive authority, if any.  And there 

isn't much information about the underlying case at issue, but we do 

know the Court was not persuaded that extraordinary and 

discretionary relief was warranted under the facts of that case.   

We know it was a standard medical malpractice case and 

there were likely no novel issues of law.  And while an appeal may be 

an adequate legal remedy in the legal malpractice case, we don't 

believe that's true in the matter at hand because we are so early in 

the litigation, and one of the motions on calendar for today, if the 

Court denies the stay, is going to be the extremely burdensome and 

time-consuming discovery which has been served upon the 

defendants and a Motion to Compel has been filed.  And although we 

haven't filed a Motion to Compel, we do point out in that other 

briefing that we have sought information regarding all of these 

claims, and we've sought the clinical record.  And the same objection 

has been made to our discovery, that it's unduly burdensome for 

them to have to actually produce the clinical records in support of 

each and every one of the over 22,000 claims which are currently in 

dispute in this litigation.   

Therefore, while the Nevada Supreme Court might generally 

reject writ petitions -- and we agree with that point that are 

challenging a Motion to Dismiss -- we think that ERISA questions had 

previously been considered to be of such important (sic) that the 

Nevada Supreme Court will consider a writ petition challenging a 

denial of a Motion to Dismiss on the merits on the grounds of ERISA.  
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And we would cite the Court to W. Cab Company v. The Eighth 

Judicial District 390 P.3d 662, page 667, for that point addressing 

ERISA preemption of minimum wage amendment and noting that the 

instant petition seeks reversal of the denial of a Motion to Dismiss, 

quote, Although we typically deny such petitions, considering this 

petition would serve judicial economy and clarify an important issue 

of the law.   

Therefore, while we understand the general rule, generally 

about motions to dismiss, in this case we think that ERISA and the 

fact that this is an important issue of law and it does involve federal 

preemption, is a petition that the Court would be more likely to accept 

than the general writ petitions about a typical Motion to Dismiss.   

The next case that I would like to address is Nevada State 

Board of Nursing v. The Eighth Judicial District Court 459 P.3d 236.  

That's a 2020 decision.  Once again, it's unpublished and, therefore, 

not binding precedent.  This decision can be distinguished because 

that case did not involve the exception I just discussed, where the 

Court has an opportunity to clarify an important question of the law.   

In addition, the point that they have made with Pan v. Eighth 

Judicial District, a 2004 case, 88 P.3d 840, which is that a writ relief is 

not appropriate where a plain, speedy, and adequate remedy at law 

exists.  And we acknowledge there is a lot of language and a lot of 

decisions saying that the fact that a party has to incur attorney's fees 

and costs in conducting discovery doesn't mean that a direct appeal 

is not an adequate and speedy remedy.   
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However, in International Game Tech v. Second Judicial 

District Court, a Washoe case, 179 P.3d 556 and 559, the Court found 

that writ relief was appropriate there, and an appeal is not an 

adequate and speedy remedy given the early stages of litigation and 

the policies of judicial administration.   

So you can't just say discovery is never an inadequate 

remedy.  The -- because you have to incur those discovery costs.  You 

have to look at how early in the litigation you are, whether that 

discovery cost would be completely avoided if the writ was granted, 

and how early are we in the litigation, and how much has already 

been done.  And even though this case has been pending for quite a 

while, Your Honor, it has started out in federal court, and it came 

here, and (indiscernible) on motion practice and very little discovery 

has been done, and it is still at an early stage where this Court can 

prevent a waste of legal resources and a waste of judicial 

(indiscernible) in continuing to administer this case, all of which costs 

would be saved if our writ was granted and the Court found that 

ERISA preemption is appropriate here.   

We've noted, and I think it's worth considering, that the shoe 

is on the other foot a little bit.  And when we were up in federal court, 

it was the plaintiffs who moved for a stay of discovery on the grounds 

that the case was likely to be remanded, and the Court should not 

waste judicial resources by proceeding with the federal case until the 

Court decided on the Motion to Remand.  We think that some of 

those same factors play in here that they pointed out to the Court 
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there, and that over all, this is not a common case where a party 

seeks a frivolous writ after the denial of a Motion to Dismiss.   

ERISA preemption is an area which the Nevada Supreme 

Court has shown an interest in.  This case deals with a point not 

previously addressed by the Nevada Supreme Court, particular the 

right of payment versus right of payment exception.  And, in fact, we 

believe that the Court may be motivated -- regardless of whether they 

side with us or not -- they may be motivated to accept the petition in 

order to clarify this important point of law under ERISA.   

Unless the Court has any further questions, I will end my 

argument there.   

THE COURT:  Thank you.   

The opposition, please.   

MS. LUNDVALL:  Thank you, Your Honor.  Pat Lundvall from 

McDonald Carano here on behalf then of the plaintiff.   

To begin, I'm glad that the Court has a reputation for 

reviewing the written papers in making decisions on these motions 

before, in addition to listening to the oral presentations on the 

motions, since the oral presentation that was just made by 

Mr. Roberts does differ, and differs in a significant piece from the 

written motion that they have brought to the Court.  Let me address 

that to begin with because it does focus upon the totality of the 

circumstances which I'm glad that Mr. Roberts has led with.   

When you look at the totality of the circumstance and you 

look at their concessions that they made in their motion, United asked 
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for a stay of all discovery even though it concedes that even if it is 

100 percent successful on the writ petition, that there will be claims 

that remain.  It concedes that there are ERISA claims that will remain 

and that --  

THE COURT:  Excuse my interruption.  Someone is typing in 

the background, and if you'll just mute yourself, because it interferes 

with my ability to listen.  Thank you.   

Please proceed.  

MR. ROBERTS:  Your Honor, I apologize, and I'm muted.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  All right, Ms. Lundvall.  

MS. LUNDVALL:  Thank you, Your Honor.   

One of the things I wanted to point out up front is that 

United is asking for a stay of all discovery, even though it 

acknowledges if it were 100 percent successful on this writ petition 

before the Nevada Supreme Court, that there would be claims that 

remain even after that writ petition.  And they concede that there are 

ERISA claims that would remain as a result of the writ petition and 

that there would be discovery that would be necessary on those 

writ -- on those ERISA claims.  And at the very minimum, the 

administrative record then would have to be disclosed, and there'd 

have to be discovery on those issues.   

And when you scour their papers and when you scour the 

case law -- and I do do a lot of appellate work, and so I'm fairly 

familiar with this -- they can offer -- and I can't find a single Nevada 

case that has stayed the proceedings below that when, in fact, that 
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what is at issue in a writ is a review on a partial Motion to Dismiss.   

And so, in fact, if you take a look that there's even Nevada 

authority to the contrary that holds that when, in fact, that you're 

seeking a partial review of a Motion to Dismiss, it's inappropriate for 

writ review.  And if it's inappropriate for writ review, then surely it's 

inappropriate for a stay of proceedings during that writ review.   

The second point that I'd like to make -- and that is that, 

once again, looking at totality of the circumstances that United is 

asking for a stay of all discovery even though -- even if it were 

100 percent successful on the writ, the only benefit it obtains from a 

stay is narrowing the scope of discovery.  So in other words, all 

they're trying to do on a writ is to narrow the scope of discovery.  

And what they're trying to do is to save some time or save some 

money by asking for a stay, even assuming 100 percent success on 

the writ, which is what we disagree upon.   

They offer no Nevada Supreme Court authority, once again, 

on that proposition.  And, in fact, they run exact contrary to the 

holdings in Hansen and the exact contrary to the holdings in Micon, 

the two principle Nevada Supreme Court cases that say clearly and 

unequivocally that saving time or money is not irreparable or 

substantial harm that should be evaluated in determining whether or 

not that a stay should issue.   

If you look particularly at the Hansen case, in Hansen it was 

an issue as to whether or not that there was personal jurisdiction over 

a defendant.  And the district court below had found that there was 
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jurisdiction over that defendant, and there was a writ review that was 

sought then by the defendant before the Nevada Supreme Court.  

And he had asked for a stay, and his principle argument was there's 

no reason I should go through the entirety of this case and go 

through discovery and potentially go through a trial when, in fact, 

that the Nevada Supreme Court is reviewing this on a writ.  And the 

Nevada Supreme Court denied his request for a stay, stating that, in 

fact, that cost savings or time savings or trying to save effort in not 

having to litigate a portion or all of the case, was not a factor to be 

taken into account then in determining to grant a stay.   

The other thing that United is asking -- and when you couple 

their two arguments together in particular, I think it's important to 

keep in mind that they acknowledge that there will be ERISA claims 

that will continue, even if they're 100 percent successful, that there'll 

have to be discovery on those ERISA claims, and that the 

administrative record on those ERISA claims will have to be gathered 

and disclosed as part of discovery.  And they take the position, even 

though we disagree with it, but they take the position that it's going 

to take up to four years to gather that administrative record and to 

turn that over as part of discovery.   

So when you couple their two arguments together and 

suggest that, in fact, that we should just stop all discovery and stop 

all proceedings below while we determine whether or not that the 

Nevada Supreme Court is, number one, even going to grant review, 

let alone to make a decision on writ review on this -- what we're 
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looking at is a delay of upwards between seven to nine years before, 

potentially, we can get to trial from when we first filed this case.  And 

there is a number of different cases from our Nevada Supreme Court 

that states that when there is going to be an undue delay that will 

result by grant of a stay, then that means that the stay should not be 

granted below.   

In general, when I take a look at these factors in totality, it 

underscores the fact that the law abhors an absurd position.  And 

when you evaluate the four factors that are supposed to be required 

to be looked at, then when, in fact, you can see why it is that in this 

circumstance that a stay should not be granted, as has been 

requested then by United.   

The first factor, if I can underscore, and that is that the Court 

should review -- is whether or not that the object of United's writ will 

be defeated if the stay is denied.  And they contend or they argue that 

the object of their writ review is to determine whether or not that 

either complete preemption or conflict preemption should apply to 

preempt then some of these claims and to transmute them into 

ERISA claims.   

Well, first and foremost, complete preemption is a 

jurisdictional tool, and they have no opportunity by which then to go 

back to federal court and to seek that jurisdictional tool or to use that 

jurisdictional tool so as to get federal court jurisdiction.  So that ship 

has already sailed, and that can't be the object then of a writ petition.   

The only thing that's left is conflict preemption, and the 
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Court gave them the opportunity for review after factual discovery 

then in bringing motions for summary judgment at the conclusion 

then of that discovery.  So they have the opportunity to review below 

and then an opportunity then on appeal to preserve then any of the 

issues for which that they seek conflict of preemption.  So boil it 

down to its bare essence, a denial of the stay then does not defeat the 

object of their writ review.   

Number two, the Court is supposed to evaluate whether or 

not that United will suffer irreparable harm if the stay is not granted.  

The only harm that United offers to the Court -- and I underscore 

this -- the only harm that they offer to the Court is found at page 13 of 

their brief, lines 25 to 27, when they speak to the fact of -- and I quote 

here:  The high potential for wasted resources and unnecessary 

expenses associated with continuing discovery.  So in other words, 

what they're saying is that it's go to go cost us time or money to 

litigate this case, and we want to save time and money.  Both the 

Micon case as well as Hansen say saving time and money is not 

irreparable, it's not even substantial harm under those two cases.  So 

that factor doesn't favor them.   

Number three, the Court is supposed to evaluate then 

whether or not the plaintiffs, the healthcare providers, if they will 

suffer or potentially suffer significant or irreparable harm by the grant 

of the stay.  And this is one where I think that you need to take this 

case and look at it in context.  United is the largest healthcare 

provider across the nation and the largest healthcare provider here in 
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the state of Nevada.  In other words, United's policyholders are the 

largest group of policyholders that seek medical services on an 

emergency basis from the plaintiffs.  Pursuant to law, both federal 

law and state law, we are obligated to provide medical services 

without any opportunity to review or any opportunity to discern if 

we're going to get paid for the provision of those services.   

So in other words, where I'm going with this is that the 

largest group of individuals, patients, policyholders that walk through 

the door of emergency rooms that my clients provide services for are 

United policyholders, and that is the largest group then that for which 

that United is only paying pennies on the dollar on the invoices and 

the bill charges that we send them for payment.  And they're doing 

this in an effort to try to coerce and to exert and to try to, in essence, 

push us into a written agreement for which that pays us below cost of 

the provision of the services that we provide.   

So the longer that this case proceeds, like any other 

business, the greater the likelihood of our provision then of providing 

the services for which that we're not getting paid, you end up with a 

company then that is writing more red ink than it does black ink and 

that runs the risk then of substantially harming then the healthcare 

providers and pushing them out of business.  United knows this.  And 

as with any injunctive type of relief, when you're threatening the very 

livelihood and the very existence of an entity, that is the pure 

definition then of the definition of irreparable harm.   

So the longer that United can push us and the longer that 
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they can make the provision of these -- this litigation go on, the 

greater likelihood then that we don't have a viable opportunity or a 

viable way by which to move forward.  They already owe us 

$20 million and that's counting on a daily basis and that's 

accumulating then on a daily basis.  And so that factor is a significant 

factor for which that mitigates against the grant of the stay.   

The last point that the Court is to analyze then in 

determining whether or not that a stay should be granted is whether 

or not that United is likely to prevail in the merits of their writ, a 

petition that they filed before the Nevada Supreme Court.   

When they described the contents of that petition then to 

you, one of the things that was interesting to me is that they relied 

upon the same two cases that this Court has already rejected.  They 

relied upon the same cases for which that this Court had found.  For 

example, the Evans v. Safeco case -- that it was a Ninth Circuit case 

for which that -- subsequent Ninth Circuit decisions, subsequent U.S. 

Supreme Court decisions had indicated that the test and the review 

then that had originally been offered by Evans v. Safeco was not the 

appropriate test.  One by one by one, if you look at the cases that they 

cited on the likelihood of success then before the Nevada Supreme 

Court were each one of the points that this Court had already looked 

at, analyzed, reviewed, and expressly found against them based upon 

subsequent or more applicable or more analogous case law.   

And therefore, when you look at then at bottom, even 

ignoring the totality of the circumstances here, but if you look at at 
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bottom, none of the four factors favors granting them a stay, not one.  

And so you can't even weigh or apply some type of a weight then to 

even one of those single factors so as to consider granting them a 

stay.  And so we would ask the Court then to deny their request for a 

stay of proceedings and to allow this case then to continue a pace 

then as we have already laid out.   

Thank you, Your Honor.   

THE COURT:  Thank you.   

And the reply, please.  

MR. ROBERTS:  Thank you, Your Honor.   

First, I'd like to start out in saying that I believe our 

arguments were successfully stated in my presentation to the Court.  

Ms. Lundvall was correct as there was some inconsistency in our 

briefing, and I can explain that with some assumptions that, perhaps, 

we were making.   

The -- it is true that if our writ was granted and the 

complaint was dismissed based on ERISA conflict preemption, it is 

true that they would still have ERISA claims.  However, the Court can 

review the complaint and see they had not brought ERISA claims.  So 

therefore, the entire complaint would be dismissed, and it would be 

dismissed because there aren't any ERISA claims pled.   

Now, based on the case law we cited to the Court, it would 

be appropriate for the dismissal to be without prejudice, and we 

acknowledge that they could bring a new complaint for -- under 

ERISA, which would not be dismissed.  But this action would be 
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gone.  They would have to plead a new ERISA complaint which has 

not been pled.  And we don't know that they would do that, because 

it may be they had not pled ERISA because they know they'd be 

entitled to no additional money under the actual terms of the plans at 

issue.   

In addition, our initial review has shown that only about 500 

claims, we've determined, were actually appealed.  Therefore, rather 

than dealing with over 22,000 claims, as we have discovery now 

pending on -- if this was re-pled in a new action under ERISA, the 

argument would be that they failed to exhaust administrative 

remedies in all but about 500 of those claims.  And those 500 claims, 

which were appealed under the terms of the plans, would be able to 

proceed under ERISA, but it would be a vastly different lawsuit with a 

vastly different burden upon United in responding.   

The -- we acknowledge the case they cite, which talks about 

the fact that discovery costs are not generally considered as 

irreparable harm, but, you know, I've mentioned before International 

Game Technology v. Second Judicial District, a 2008 Supreme Court 

case, where in that case the Court specifically found that an appeal 

was not an adequate and speedy remedy given the early stages of 

litigation and the policies of judicial administration.  So it isn't a 

black-and-white issue.  And if the case is early enough and discovery 

is extensive enough, then those factors can weigh in favor of the stay 

and if favor of the Court accepting a writ.   

In our opposition to the Motion to Compel, which the Court 
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has probably read, we have included a declaration of Sandra Way, 

which generally goes through and says at two hours of claim, 22,000 

claims would take four people earning $60,000 a year, five years to 

pull.  That's $1.2 million in discovery costs which is going to have to 

be borne by somebody if the Court compels that discovery.  This is 

not a typical case, and sound judicial economy weighs in favor of the 

Court staying the action in order to give the Supreme Court a chance 

to review our writ on ERISA preemption.   

Thank you, Your Honor.   

THE COURT:  Thank you.   

This is the Defendant's Motion for Stay due to a writ that 

was filed on about August 25th of this year.  Motion will be denied for 

the following reasons:  First, the case goes back to April 15 of 2019.  

You have a discovery cutoff of December 31 of this year, and I find 

that the objects of the appeal would not be defeated in -- by me not 

granting this motion.  With all due respect to the defendants, I do 

think that there is a likelihood of success on the matter even being 

considered by the Nevada Supreme Court.  I find that irreparable 

harm in this case would weigh in favor of the plaintiff and not the 

defendant.   

Now, the Court's deny it; however, let me also say that, 

Mr. Roberts, if there is briefing requests, I would reconsider this.  If 

the Supreme Court requests briefing on the issue, I'd consider a brief 

stay for that purpose.  So --  

MR. ROBERTS:  Thank you, Your Honor.  I understand.  
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THE COURT:  So, Plaintiff, prepare the order.  Mr. Roberts 

and his team will look at it, approve the form of it, and then it will be 

submitted, denying the stay.  Of course, you still have your ability to 

seek a stay from the higher court.   

The second question I have was the Plaintiff's Motion to 

Compel the Production of Claims Files or in the alternative Motion in 

Limine.  Please proceed on that.   

MS. LUNDVALL:  Thank you, Your Honor.  Once again, Pat 

Lundvall from McDonald Carano on behalf of the healthcare 

providers.   

This is a motion that underscores the sword versus shield 

protections, the sword versus shield analogy that our Nevada 

Supreme Court has upheld since 1995 when it issued the decision in 

the Wardlow v. Second Judicial District case.  In other words, a party, 

during the course of discovery, cannot say, no, no, no, no, you can't 

have a discovery because of one reason or another.  In that case it 

was a principle of trying to apply privilege to certain documents, but 

then at the time of trial that they tried to defend using the same 

information or the same arguments that that discovery would have 

revealed and that discovery would have allowed them to explore the 

parameters of.   

It's a simple basic proposition that -- I think that many of us 

learned as kids.  And that is for every right that we have or every right 

that we enjoy, that there's an obligation that goes along with that.  It's 

the same principle that we tried to teach our own children.  You don't 
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make your bed; you don't get to go outside and play.   

And in this particular circumstance, what we're trying to do 

is to apply standard, basic Nevada Supreme Court authority that's 

been the law since at least 1995 and probably long before that, and 

also seeks to underscore basic principles that not only that each of us 

probably learned as children, but that we also tried to teach our own 

kids.   

Let me give you the context then for this because at every 

turn during the discovery process, United has taken the position that 

they don't have to give us anything but the administrative record 

because these claims that we are bringing are nothing but ERISA 

claims.  And they have mounted that refrain and beat that like it's a 

drum.  These are ERISA claims; all you get is the administrative 

record.  All right.  (Indiscernible) All right.  Give us the administrative 

record at least (indiscernible).  Oh, can't do that, it's too hard.  It's an 

undue burden.  We can't give that to you.  It's going to take us too 

long to do that.  It's going to take four years for us to give you the 

administrative record for the claims that you have brought or the 

claims that are at issue in this case.   

And so, therefore, they have objected to giving us at 

administrative record, citing undue burden.  So it's a classic situation 

wherein they say, All right, these are ERISA claims.  They 

acknowledge the minimal discovery obligation that they have is the 

production of the administrative record.  But when we ask for the 

administrative record, they say, We don't have to give it to you 
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because it's an undue burden.  (Indiscernible) this case.   

And part of the reason that they claim that it's an undue 

burden is because of the number of claims that are at issue in this 

case.  And they point to the fact that there have been spreadsheets 

that have been offered then, by the plaintiff that detail in great -- and 

identify in great detail the claims for which that they have underpaid, 

and that they have (indiscernible) to an excess of 15,000 and have 

now risen to an excess of 20,000.   

And so the question becomes, Why are there so many 

claims?  Well, they are because United created a problem beginning 

in 2018, when they tried to coerce us into taking a written agreement 

that would have transmuted then our prior business relationship with 

them and that would have discounted them any payment to us by 

50 percent.  And they said, If you don't like that, then what we're 

going to do, is we're going to start underpaying your claims.  And 

we're going to start at a 33 percent level by underpaying.  We'll then 

move to a 50 percent level by underpaying them, and then we'll move 

even farther than that as time goes on.  And that's exactly what they 

did.   

And because they are the largest policy writer -- the largest 

underwriter then of health care here within the state of Nevada, the 

number of claims, the number of folks that come across the doorstep 

into our emergency room seeking emergency treatment for which 

that we are obligated to provide them services by law, those claims 

then are high in number.  And so to the extent that you step back and 
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you look at this from the 30,000-foot level, and what do you have?  

You have United creating a problem by taking the position that we're 

going to use our financial might and our financial worth to try to push 

you around, and if you don't like it, then we're going to push even 

harder.  And because of the numerosity of these claims, then we're 

going to go create a problem for you.  And that's what they have 

done.   

And then when we litigate, they point to the very problem 

that they created and said, Oh, by the way, I don't have to do any 

discovery.  I don't have to give you that administrative record.  Why?  

Because it's too hard.  It's too much work.  It's too much effort.  It's 

going to go take us too long by which to accomplish that.   

And so you sit back and you think about it -- what a swell 

kind of tool that one can employ if you were a litigant.  First, you 

create a problem and then you use the very problem that you created 

in an effort to try to avoid a discovery obligations.  And then you 

want to go to trial, but to be able to use that very administrative 

record, to claim or to try to defend then against the claims that have 

been brought against us.   

And so what we did is we sat back and we thought about 

this.  And it's like, wait a minute, you can't have it both ways.  You 

can't use the argument of undue burden and not having to comply 

then with your discovery obligations in the production then of these 

administrative records at the very, very minimum.  And then to be 

able to go to trial and to be able to use that same record then in an 
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effort to try to defend then against the claims.   

And so what we've done then, is we tried to put them to the 

choice, either produce the claims to us or be foreclosed at the time of 

trial then from using any of the evidence then from these claims in 

order to defend then against the claims that we have asserted then 

against United.   

So where we're going to in this particular circumstance, in 

this particular case, is that we ask for the production of the 

administrative record.  They said, We don't have to give you that 

administrative record because it is that undue burden.  Ignore the fact 

that we haven't met the standards for demonstrating that it's an 

undue burden or that you can likely get that same information then 

from other sources.  But we're just going to claim undue burden and 

not give it to you.   

And so we're asking for this, basically, either/or relief.  Either 

require them to give us the administrative record at the very 

minimum and to do so within the time frame because this goes back 

now -- it dates back to a request for production that we served back in 

December -- December 8th of 2019, and that they have refused then 

by which to give us; or if they don't want to give us the administrative 

record, then to foreclose them from being able to use it at the time of 

trial.  And we've identified the scope of that relief, it's found in our 

motion, and I can direct you specifically to where in the motion that 

that is laid out.  But that's the choice that we would ask the Court then 

to put United to because they can't have it both ways.   
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And with that, Your Honor, we would submit.  

THE COURT:  Just got a couple of questions.  When you said 

retrieve, review, produce, what do you anticipate there in claims files?   

MS. LUNDVALL:  Their claims files have been identified.  I 

think they describe them -- let me find my notes, specifically, because 

they describe their claims file in pretty broad terms.  And I believe it 

was that page -- oh, I'm not finding this quickly, but I believe it was at 

page 13 of the brief that identifies what their claims file would be.   

But the claims file is identified within the motion as to at 

minimum what the contents are, and they're kind of your classic 

claims file information that you would find in your standard insurance 

file.  One would expect then to find the claim itself, the reasons for 

the payment on the claim because these claims have already been 

adjudicated then as payable by United.  But they are to be paid and 

that they are -- should be paid.  They have just simply underpaid 

them.  There also should be an identification as to why they were 

underpaid and the amount by which that they were underpaid.  And 

there's a series of documents that would be found within those 

claims files, and that is what we had requested.   

THE COURT:  Good enough.  Next question:  I assume it's all 

electronic?   

MS. LUNDVALL:  We assume that it's electronic too, and I 

will tell the Court that the last time -- not against United, but in the 

context of another case, we learned that the electronic files and the 

electronic compilation of these files is very sophisticated by the 
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insurance companies and almost everything, unless there's some 

type of special rules that have been applied by these insurance 

companies, is all electronic adjudication that they -- they've got 

programs that have been written for the adjudication of these files.   

If there's something separate and there's some special 

programming that they have strictly for team health files, then there 

may be some type of a manual file that would need to be looked at.  

But that manual file would only apply to special rules, which we think 

may be occurring in this case.  But if, as they suggested, there's no 

special rules that are being applied then to team health then it should 

be all electronic.   

THE COURT:  And they would have to redact if I grant your 

motion?   

MS. LUNDVALL:  No, Your Honor.  We have a protective 

order already in place that provides the HIPAA protections that would 

afford that.  All they have to do is to be able to designate those as 

HIPAA protected.  Moreover --  

THE COURT:  Last question is they say that -- they said 

that --  

No, you go ahead, please.   

MS. LUNDVALL:  Just to clarify on the HIPAA protection, any 

of the health insurance or the health information then that would be 

found in these files would have been supplied then by the plaintiffs, 

healthcare providers themselves, who equally have a HIPAA 

obligation concerning maintaining the confidentiality of that 
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information.  And that's why the HIPAA issues do not need to be 

specially accounted for or a special redaction then for that issue.   

THE COURT:  My last question is:  They say in their 

opposition that you already have EOBs, appeal stocks, and the 

administrative record.  

MS. LUNDVALL:  And we had offered, Your Honor, to them 

to be able to remove those or to remove that information.  The EOBs 

in particular and -- let me -- there were two pieces that we had offered 

them to say that we -- they did not need to provide.  The two pieces 

that we had offered that they did not need to provide because -- that 

we were already in receipt of is the EOBs, the member explanation of 

benefits, and then the provider remittance advices, or was referred to 

as PRAs.  And so those were the two that, in fact, we had offered and 

they had rejected that offer then from us.   

THE COURT:  Thank you.   

And I'm ready to hear the opposition, please, Mr. Roberts.   

MR. ROBERTS:  Thank you, Your Honor.   

I'd like to start out by pointing out that there is not a 

sufficient record before this Court where you could base your 

decision on the Motion to Compel on an argument that United is 

trying to put these providers out of business and that if somehow 

United is able to continue with this litigation, that it's going to drive 

these providers -- that they don't have the money, that they're going 

to be run into the ground.  A footnote, page 8, we noted the 

TeamHealth Holdings is a subsidiary of Blackstone, which has 
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$360 billion under management.  This is not a case of a big insurance 

company against a little doctor who can't fight.  They have brought 

litigation affirmatively all over the country.  They have been very 

aggressive.  They are in no danger of going out of business, Your 

Honor.  The --   

THE COURT:  You know, I'm not going to consider that 

anyway, Mr. Roberts, on either side -- your size -- you know, there's 

an equal protection clause.  Everybody starts out equal.  

MR. ROBERTS:  Thank you, Your Honor.  I'll move on then.   

I would like to say however, you know, as Ms. Lundvall 

talked about some of the things you learned as a kid is, you know, 

that what's good for the goose is good for the gander and that 

obligations run both ways.  And in this case, as we point out on page 

2, we have served discovery to ask for all documents in their 

possession regarding the claims they are asserting and, in particular, 

production of all the clinical and cost records underlying each one of 

the claims.  Which is perfectly relevant because they have claim in 

quantum meruit that is preceding.   

They objected to that on the grounds that the burden and 

expense of gathering thousands of medical records adequately 

redacting confidential and information protected by HIPAA and 

producing this exceedingly large file, outweighs any benefit.  In other 

words, they are a company that doesn't have to prove their case and 

produce all of the records to support their case, but United somehow 

has to comply with an impossible time frame to produce their 
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administrative records.   

Ultimately, we've got no dispute with one thing that was 

argued by Plaintiffs.  And that is that if United doesn't produce 

documents including administrative records pursuant to 16.1, they 

obviously can't use at trial, information which wasn't produced 

pursuant to 16.1.  So we don't dispute that.  And, in fact, as stated in 

our brief, we're currently diligently working to produce first, the 500 

claims that were actually appealed under the administrative 

procedures.   

And we're prepared to start rolling productions of those 

documents within 30 days; and although, we don't have a good 

handle on the additional claims which took us from 15- to 22,000 

claims, we believe we'll be able to get that full production of appealed 

claims, which is only about 500 or so claims done completely by 

January 8th.  And, certainly, we ought to be entitled that time to 

produce those records in a reasonable timeframe, given the burdens 

of research necessary for us to look for, download, review, and 

produce these extensive files.   

Again, if we don't -- anything we don't produce, it's 

obviously going to be excluded.  But there's no basis to compel us to 

either produce things, which are impossible to produce within 

14 days, or face a sanction of exclusion or an admission that their 

spreadsheets are correct.   

Even if United did not produce any administrative records, 

which is not going to happen, it doesn't relieve plaintiffs of their 
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burden of proof.  And even if we produce no contrary evidence, the 

jury would be entitled to believe that they had not established that 

the reasonable value of their claims exceeded what United paid.   

And there's a difference between United saying we're only 

going to pay the reasonable value of the claim and then disputing 

that versus whether they're ever going to be able to prove that United 

intentionally underpaid claims in the sense that United paid less than 

they knew was due.   

It's not coincidental that there's a class action pending 

against these providers now, claiming that they vastly overcharged 

their patients for the cost of medical services, and they're one of the 

highest charging providers.  Simply because they say this is how 

much we're owed in a bill, does not mean they've met their burden of 

proof, that that's the amount owed in a bill.  That is the question for 

trial.   

So ultimately, Judge, what we would ask for is if the Court is 

going to compel the production of all the administrative records, we 

receive an adequate time to do that, and that when we bring the 

appropriate motion, that TeamHealth be similarly compelled to 

produce all of their clinical and cost records supporting each and 

every claim.   

Alternatively, as we intimated in our brief, this is not a 

problem that's unique to this case, and there are things that Courts 

and parties have done in order to try to relieve some of the necessary 

burden from producing every single one of the claims.  I know that 
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Plaintiffs don't want to agree to a scientific sampling, but that was 

done, for example, in the CityCenter project with Judge Gonzales, 

where you had thousands and thousands of rooms with similar 

defects, and they did some sort of sampling there.  United also 

generally opposes sampling because it's not appropriate for many 

cases.   

But certainly between this great firm we've got on the other 

side and the firm we have on this side, we could come up with some 

way that both sides could get some relief on what they claim would 

be an unduly burdensome production while still getting to adequately 

try their case on the merits.  If the parties can't do that, then the Court 

needs to consider, under the new amendments to the rules, not just 

the relevance of the documents but the extensive burden and 

hardship.  And if either side insists on the production of 100 percent 

of these documents, then we think it's appropriate for the Court to 

consider some cost-shifting measures, where the party demanding 

the documents is bearing the burden of the unreasonable cost of 

production.  And we also need to talk about some more realistic 

discovery timeframes, which would give both sides the time they 

need to produce the extensive discovery, which is currently been 

demanded on each side.   

Thank you, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  Does that conclude your argument?  So, 

Mr. Roberts, you've been aware of a lawsuit probably since April 

of 2019.  When did the effort start for the retrieval of review and 
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production of these claims files?   

MR. ROBERTS:  Mr. Balkenbush has been working with the 

client on these since this was filed.  I can allow him to address that 

with leave of Court.  

THE COURT:  Because the request was made last 

December?   

MR. BALKENBUSH:  That's correct, Your Honor, and 

United's response to the request -- we objected.  We made the exact 

same objection that we're making today and presenting to the Court.  

The attached -- the undue burden declaration of Sandra Way that we 

discussed extensively in our brief, and we stood on that objection 

that it was unduly burdensome, given the expense to produce 

administrative records for all 22,000 claims at issue.   

And, essentially, what happened is, for whatever reason, the 

plaintiffs decided to not see this issue out until now with a Motion to 

Compel.  But our objection -- they have had our undue burden 

objection and undue burden declaration since 30 to 40 -- whenever 

the deadline was for our response -- it was 30 to 45 days after their 

request was served on us.   

THE COURT:  Okay.  And I need an explanation of why, if I 

grant the motion, you wouldn't be able to produce anything on a 

rolling basis for 30 days more.  

MR. ROBERTS:  Your Honor, we probably could begin 

producing on a rolling basis within 14 days.  I think 30 days was our 

goal to have all of the administrative records produced of the claims 
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which had been appealed based on our records.  But we could begin 

rolling productions earlier than that, especially if the Court were to 

order us to immediately begin producing administrative records and 

files other than those which had their administrative appellate rights 

exhausted.   

THE COURT:  Okay.  And my next question is kind of 

compound, but I assume you have decided that you think the appeals 

are the most important.  Are there general categories then of -- 

because there are so many analytic companies out there now who 

are doing this -- using artificial intelligence -- that I don't know why it 

would take so much effort on behalf of the defendant to compile this 

information.  

MR. ROBERTS:  And, Your Honor, that effort --  

THE COURT:  Is it something you (indiscernible) 

Mr. Roberts?   

MR. ROBERTS:  That effort is something which we've asked 

the same question and which has -- you know, is extensively 

explained in the process and the four or five different searches that 

have to be done.  I will say that based on the affidavit and the 

estimates, for example, if the plaintiffs agreed to withdraw the 

request for the EOBs and the provider explanation benefits, I think 

that would almost cut this in half, reduce it at least 45 minutes, 

maybe more, because that would eliminate --  

THE COURT:  Mr. -- Hang on.   

MR. ROBERTS:  -- separate system.  But --  
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THE COURT:  Ms. Lundvall -- Hang on.  Ms. Lundvall already 

said she agreed that they have the EOBs and the remittance advices.  

MR. ROBERTS:  Right.  So that takes us from five years to 

two and a half years, so we're making progress.  But --  

THE COURT:  No, that's -- I don't think you understand.  

That's not going to be good enough.  It really isn't.  And I'm going to 

both sides do discovery.   

I know I cut you off.  

MR. ROBERTS:  And, Your Honor, simply because of the 

confidential nature of the health records, United typically does these 

without the use of third party vendors.  And we've indicated that we 

could assign four employees in that department full time to pulling 

nothing but the records being asked for in this case.  And we're 

prepared to do that, but more than that would simply impose an 

undue burden on United.  That would be our contention here, Your 

Honor.   

THE COURT:  Okay.  Did you have anything further?   

MR. ROBERTS:  The only thing I would just add is, I believe, 

we started pulling administrative records, at least in the claims which 

were appealed, as soon as the Court denied the Motion to Dismiss, 

and we've been working on that.   

And that -- the reason that we have contended that those are 

probably the most important is because, according to our client, the 

claims that are appealed are much more likely to have 

correspondence indicating some narrative as to the issues in dispute 
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and the reasons why the claims were denied or were paid in the way 

that they were.   

If a claim was simply submitted and an EOB was issued for 

less than the amount of the claim and it was never appealed, then the 

file would be much less likely to contain correspondence or other 

relevant information that would add to the EOBs and provider 

explanation of benefits, which the plaintiffs already possess.   

THE COURT:  Thank you.   

And the reply, please.   

MS. LUNDVALL:  A couple comments in response to the 

presentation done by Mr. Balkenbush and Mr. Roberts.   

Number one is that you ask Mr. Balkenbush when the 

process then began for gathering then these administrative records 

for each of the claims.  And quite candidly, you didn't get a response 

from him.  You kind of got a response from Mr. Roberts.  And 

Mr. Roberts contended that while we started on that process, limited 

to the appeals after you denied the Motion to Dismiss.   

And so recognize that earlier they told you that there's only 

about 500 that they contend are subject to appeal.  And so, therefore, 

that all they want to do is to give us 500 administrative records from 

over 20,000 claims that are at issue in this case.  And they want 

another 30 days by which to do that with no explanation and no offer 

or no suggestion as to when the balance or the rest of these may 

occur.  There's point number one.   

Point number two is this:  We have offered, on three 
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separate occasions, various proposals or trying to bridge the gap 

between the tap dance that we get as to why they can't give us this 

information.  We tried to suggest that they give us their own 

spreadsheets.  We've tried to suggest that they do a comparison of 

the spreadsheets.  We've tried to suggest that, in fact, they give us 

their own spreadsheets, and we will compare them against ours to 

determine which of the claims for which that there may be a 

discrepancy then into the amount that may be owed.   

Each and every one of the proposals that we have put on the 

table in an effort to try to streamline resolution of this dispute has 

been rejected out of hand.  And what they've done is they try to stand 

entirely upon this declaration of Ms. Way.   

When you look at the declaration of Ms. Way, he doesn't 

even contend that she has tried to pull a single claim that is at issue 

in this case, not one.  When we asked during our meet and confers as 

to whether or not the she had, it was acknowledged that she had not.  

So they don't even know, based upon the claims in the information 

that we have already supplied to them, which is vast and extensive -- 

we included that was within our motion as to how much information 

that we have actually supplied to them for each one of the claims that 

is at issue so that it narrowly defies then whatever search that they 

need to do from an electronic basis and each and every time that it 

has been rejected.   

Our proposal to them as to why that they may not have to 

hinder the -- the EOBs, the employer Explanation of Benefits and the 
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Provider Review Admittance -- was in the event that they did not 

contend that there was some type of a discrepancy between their 

records and our records, that, in fact, that they did not need to 

provide those.  But if they did contend that, they would need to 

provide that information.   

Moreover, the PR -- the Provider Review Admittances, those 

would also identify whether or not that Data iSight had actually 

adjudicated those claims.  And Data iSight is the third party for which, 

that we contend, has been involved in trying to do the whitewash, so 

to speak, of why it is that we are being underpaid on these claims that 

have been submitted and the methodology in the review that has 

been provided.  And so having an understanding as to which of these 

claims have been reviewed by Data iSight is an important piece to us.   

When what our offer was, is that simply in an effort that if 

they want to remove those issues from discrepancy, then don't turn 

over those to us.  But if they do wish to dispute then the differential 

then that is owed by them, then they would have to turn that over.   

So, in sum, the one last point, though, that I want to make, 

though, in reply is this, Your Honor.  Back in February of 2020, they 

had asked us for what were all the clinical records that underlie -- or 

the medical records that underlie -- each one of those claims.  And we 

had identified that they have absolutely no relevance to this dispute 

for the simple fact that United had already adjudged these claims as 

payable.  They had already gone through their review of those clinical 

records, had already identified them as payable, and had already sent 
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us something for which that claim was payable, thereby making all of 

those clinical records irrelevant.   

We realized that issue with them all the way back in 

February and stated that objection.  And it wasn't until their 

opposition then to this motion, did they even raise the issue with us.  

It has not been the subject of a meet and confer.  And when, in fact, 

that they bring a Motion to Compel on this particular point, we're 

happy to respond and to give, in full, the explanation to the Court as 

to why that we think that, number one, they're irrelevant and do not 

need to be produced.   

But it is not a defense to any party's discovery obligation to 

say, Well, you haven't done what you're supposed to do, so I 

shouldn't have to do what I'm supposed to do.  And to the extent that 

that's what they're contending by trying to advance this particular 

argument, we suggest that it's a red herring, number one.  But, 

number two, we welcome the opportunity then to first have a meet 

and confer with them on this particular point; but also if they -- if that 

meet and confer then doesn't resolve any of the dispute then 

concerning our discovery obligations, to bring those to the Court then 

for review.   

But, in sum, we go back to the basic premise and that is this:  

They acknowledge that these administrative records are their bare 

bones discovery obligation.  We've asked for those, and we've asked 

for those since December 9th of 2019.  And we haven't gotten any of 

those.  And so to the extent that we ask the Court order them to have 
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them produced and to have those produced then within 14 days, 

notice of entry of an order.  And if, in fact, that they are not going to 

produce these records, then they should be foreclosed from being 

able to rely upon them or the content of them in defending against 

the claims then in this case.  

And with that we would submit, Your Honor.   

THE COURT:  Thank you.  So define, again, for me the bare 

bones?  Because they're focused on appeals, and then you mentioned 

discrepancies and the Data iSight review claims.  So what is the bare 

bones?   

MS. LUNDVALL:  On page 5 of their opposition, they identify 

the administrative record consists of five categories of documents.  

That's their own identification.   

And first and foremost, Your Honor, since I'm not a United 

representative and I'm not a United attorney, I have to, at least at this 

stage, rely upon what their description is of their own administrative 

record.  And so it's those five categories of documents that we are 

asking for, for each of the claims that are at issue.   

If they do not dispute the discrepancy that we've identified 

between the Explanation of Benefits and the Provider Remittance 

Advices statements, then they don't need to produce those.  But if 

they do dispute those, then they must be produced.  So all five 

categories would need to be a part of their production to us.  That is 

what we're asking for.  

THE COURT:  And where does that Data iSight review come 
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in?   

MS. LUNDVALL:  The Data iSight review comes inin what is 

referred to by the parties as the Provider Remittance Advices, the 

PRAs.  

THE COURT:  I see.  Okay.   

MS. LUNDVALL:  That's what -- where we understand the 

Data iSight review would be revealed in those documents.  At least 

that's our current understanding based upon the information that we 

have.   

THE COURT:  All right.  So Mr. Roberts or Mr. Balkenbush, 

(indiscernible) extensive questioning.  I'm going to give you a chance 

to respond if you'd like to.  

MR. ROBERTS:  I would, Your Honor.  I just heard something 

a little different than we don't have to produce the EOBs and the 

provider Explanation of Benefits, A and B category documents on 

page 5.  Instead, it's we only have to produce them if we disagree 

with their number on their spreadsheets.  I think we've established 

that they were given these documents.  They have to be in their 

possession.  They have to have already pulled them to create the 

spreadsheet.   

Rather than put United through spending hundreds of 

thousands of dollars to try to pull the same document they already 

have, there should be no order compelling us to produce documents 

we already have.  Rather, we should be able to serve discovery on 

them to get documents that have already been pulled and that the 
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cost of pulling those documents was substantially easier and less 

burdensome for them due to the way provider records are kept as 

opposed to insurer records.   

THE COURT:  Thank you.   

And, Ms. Lundvall, it's your motion.  You get the last word.   

MS. LUNDVALL:  Thank you, Your Honor.   

What Mr. Roberts articulates and underscores is the fact 

that, once again, that they want to dispute or to contend that there is 

a discrepancy in the amount owed, but they don't want to offer the 

documents that they have by which to prove that.  So it goes back to 

the basic premise of our motion.  In the event that you wish to 

advance a defense, then you got to produce the documents that 

provide that defense or else that you should be foreclosed then from 

offering a defense.  Plain, pure, and simple.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you both.   

This is the Plaintiff's Motion to Compel Production of Files to 

Require Retrieval, Review, and Production.  It ends up -- it turns out 

that it will be granted.  The categories on page 5 of the opposition 

with regard to administrative records, the defendant to provide, 

based upon those five categories, (indiscernible) only have to provide 

if there's a discrepancy between the EOB and the admittance.  And 

we'll have a -- the Plaintiff will prepare the order.   

But let me also reiterate to you guys -- I'm not going to 

consider the Motion in Limine at this point because it seems more 

right to me, after we do the production, to consider negative 
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inferences for things that aren't produced, rather than considering 

Motions in Limine at this point.  I don't want to -- that part of the 

motion is denied without prejudice.   

So the motion is to be granted then with regard to the five 

categories on page 5 of the opposition with the exception of 

discrepancies between the EOB and the remittance.   

We'll do a status check in about three weeks to see how the 

defendant's coming along on that.   

MR. ROBERTS:  For clarification, Your Honor, are you 

ordering us to produce all five categories for all 22,000 claims within 

fourteen days as requested or just to begin those rolling productions 

and make our best efforts moving forward?   

THE COURT:  The Motion to Compel is granted with a status 

check on your performance in three weeks.  And in three weeks you 

should be able to tell me exactly what you're going to be able to do 

and when.  

MR. ROBERTS:  Thank you, Your Honor.   

THE COURT:  All right.  Nicole, may I have a three-week 

status?  

THE CLERKk:  That date will be September 30th at 9:30.  

THE COURT:  September 30 at 9:30.  If you think you guys 

are going to need longer than a stacked calendar, we can give you a 

special setting.  Do you think you will need a special setting?  

Because I hate to chop up these hearings like I had to do today.   

MS. LUNDVALL:  I hope, Your Honor, that we're going to 
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come to a status conference, and Mr. Roberts will be able to report 

that we have them all.   

THE COURT:  Good enough.  If you find that you need more 

time --  

Go ahead, please.  

MR. ROBERTS:  Your Honor, to the extent the Court is going 

to want some time to discuss everything that we've done and the 

progress we've made and get into the specifics of what we're doing, 

it may take a half an hour or more.  And I would not be opposed to a 

1:30 setting, but I don't think it's going to be nearly as long as our last 

two hearings before you have been. 

THE COURT:  All right.  Any objection to a 1:30 hearing on 

that date?   

MS. LUNDVALL:  No, Your Honor.  I'm reading between the 

lines, here.  

THE COURT:  Okay.  So we will reconvene on this 

September 30th at 1:30.   

And we still have one more motion to resolve today, which 

was the Defendant's Motion for Product Order -- a Protective Order 

(indiscernible) filed on the 13th of August with regard to e-discovery 

and (indiscernible) custodians.   

And so let me hear from you, Mr. Roberts.  

MR. ROBERTS:  Actually, Your Honor, I'm going to defer to 

one of my colleagues to argue this, thinking you may have heard 

enough from me already.   
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Is that going to be you or (indiscernible) Colby?   

MR. BALKENBUSH:  That will be.  

THE COURT:  And I never tire of this, you guys, so don't ever 

worry about that.   

All right.  So, Mr. Balkenbush, go ahead, please.  

MR. BALKENBUSH:  Thank you, Your Honor.   

So this is a motion that we've brought to accomplish two 

purposes:  One is to deal with what we view as a number of very 

broad discovery requests seeking internal United emails from the 

plaintiffs.  And, two, is to head off numerous additional discovery 

disputes that we see coming down the road in regard to the issue of 

both side's productions of their internal emails related to the claims 

at issue. 

So what we've proposed is essentially a two-step process.  

One, the parties identify the custodians that they want emails from, 

from the other side.  And then, two, that each party identify the 

search terms and the dates or date ranges that they'd like those 

search terms applied to for each of the custodians at issue.   

And we believe this is appropriate, Your Honor, again, like I 

said, for a couple reasons.  If you look at some of the examples of the 

Plaintiff's Request for Production that we've cited to and that we've 

also attached as Exhibit 3 on our motion -- or I'll just refer to a couple 

of them.   

One is Request for Production 26.  This is a request that asks 

for United to produce any and all documents and/or communications 
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regarding the provider charges and/or reimbursement rates that other 

insurers and/or payors have paid for emergency medicine services in 

Nevada to either or both participating or nonparticipating providers 

from January 1, 2016, to the present, including documents and/or 

communications containing any such data or information produced in 

a blind or redacted form and/or aggregated or summarized form.   

And so this is seeking, for example, Your Honor, not only 

communications between the parties, but this seeks communications 

between other payors and other out-of-network providers other than 

the plaintiffs.   

And so in response to this, we objected it was overbroad 

and vague.  And instead of just standing on our objection, and our 

objection to other requests they have sent to us, we proposed this 

protocol where it said, Look, identify what custodians of United you 

want emails from, identify the search terms that you'd applied to their 

inboxes, and we'll run those.  And we'd like to do the same for 

Fremont as well, propose the custodians we want emails from and 

the search terms.  And they've just completely objected.   

And the basis for the objection, as best we can tell, is just an 

argument that, Well, this motion and the email protocol is simply a 

delay tactic, that this isn't brought in good faith, that we're just trying 

to buy more time and delay production of emails.   

But if you actually look at the protocol we proposed, 

attached as Exhibit 1 of our motion, it has dates in it that show this is 

not a delay tactic.  We had proposed in that protocol that both parties 
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name the custodians that they would like emails from by July 24th, 

that the parties exchange search terms by August 14th, that any and 

all objections, whether it be the custodians or to search terms, be 

submitted no later than August 28th, and that both parties produce 

emails by November 15th, 2020, of this year.   

So if you just look at the dates that we proposed in the 

protocol, it shows that this isn't a delay tactic.  It's an attempt to 

streamline discovery and avoid numerous motions and disputes over 

what custodians our party pulled emails from and what search terms 

the party used and applied to that custodian's email inbox.   

Now, I think that we spent a little time in our motion, I'll 

spend a little time now -- I think it's important (indiscernible) 

protocols like this are not unusual or unheard of.  They're very 

common in complex commercial litigation like we have here.  We cite 

extensively to The Sedona Conference Principles in our motion.  And 

what those principles say is that it's a best practice for parties to 

agree on an ESI protocol for production of emails and other electronic 

information, especially in complex litigation where numerous claims 

are at issue.   

And these principles that are set forth in The Sedona 

Conference -- these are principles that are relied upon by the Federal 

Rule Subcommittee when it was modifying the federal rules and 

coming up with guidelines for the production of electronically stored 

information.  So these are highly respected by both the federal bar 

and in state courts around the country.  And the protocol that we've 
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proposed is consistent with those principles and with federal case law 

interpreting those principles and putting them in place.   

We cite to a couple cases in our motion where courts have 

ordered the parties to meet and confer and agree on an ESI protocol 

and essentially threatened to enter one if the parties would not agree 

on custodians and search terms and date ranges, especially when 

there's a large amount of information at issue.  And those were the 

Romero v. Allstate Insurance case, a 2010 case out of the Eastern 

District of Pennsylvania and a John B. v. Goetz, a 2010 case out of the 

Middle District of Tennessee Federal Court.  All of those cases discuss 

The Sedona Conference Principles and that protocols like the one 

we've proposed are appropriate.   

We also attached some sample protocols as an exhibit to 

motion from the Northern District of California and the Southern 

District of New York.  Both districts that are familiar with complex 

commercial litigation involving thousands and thousands of claims 

that we have here.  And, again, the protocol that we've proposed is 

consistent with the model protocols that are put forward in those 

courts.   

Now, another objection that the plaintiffs have raised is -- 

there's been some specific objections to the protocol.  So, you know, 

one objection is, Well, you know, we've only -- United's only asked 

for five custodians and that's unfairly limited.  There should be more 

custodians (indiscernible) emails (indiscernible).  Well, we based that 

proposal based on -- not to (indiscernible) limited and make it 
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one-sided -- but based on the number of witnesses that the plaintiffs 

have identified in their disclosers.   

They've identified five in health witnesses in their disclosers 

and United has identified four.  And so rather than go four, which 

would have been one-sided on our side, we went with -- we went 

with five so they could name an additional United custodian if they -- 

if we named someone else on disclosers in the future or if they have 

someone else in mind.  And if the Court believes that more than five 

custodians is appropriate, then the Court would be free to order the 

parties to collect emails from more than five custodians.   

So the plaintiffs have just simply refused to negotiate on this 

issue.  United is not necessarily opposed to agreeing to a higher 

number of custodians if there's a basis for that.  Five was just what 

we based on, based on their disclosers.   

They've also objected, just generally, to the use of search 

terms and gathering emails and electronic documents.  But, again, if 

you look at The Sedona Conference Principles, it lists the use of key 

words and search terms as a best practice in gathering emails and 

other electronic documents.  So that's consistent with what Courts 

around the country have found to be appropriate.   

And, also, when you consider how broad some of these 

Requests for Production are that they've served, it's the plaintiffs who 

are in the best position to tell us exactly what they're looking for and 

narrow the scope of these requests, which is exactly what this 

protocol does.  It says, Look, if you want communications with -- 
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between United and other out-of-network providers other than the 

plaintiffs regarding rates of reimbursement and claims that have been 

challenged, then name the other out-of-network providers that 

these -- you believe there'd be emails between United -- between 

them and United.  Name the, you know, specific types of claim 

challenges -- give us some key words we can use to search our 

emails to find what you want.   

And their response has just been essentially, Well, it's your 

burden, you should go find this.  And our objection is just, we don't 

know where to look.  We need clarification, and that's why we've 

proposed this protocol. 

And the last issue they raise is the privilege that they object 

to some of the provisions regarding -- each side producing a privilege 

log of electronically stored information as part of the protocol.  And 

they argue that in the protocol that's currently written, there would be 

some kind of presumption that anything put in a privilege log is 

privilege.  If you look at the protocol, Your Honor, that's not what it 

says.   

What it says is that -- simply that the parties are entitled to 

do searches using the names of attorneys and that they should gather 

the emails from those searches that hit on emails where attorney's 

names are in them, and produce a log of all those emails to the other 

side, and that log is supposed to include certain metadata that's 

going to allow each side to assess whether or not this information is 

likely privilege or not privilege.  And then the other side can request 
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additional information if they believe that, you know, improper 

privilege claim has been made on a particular email or document.  So 

it's not inconsistent with Rule 26 and the requirements that are set 

forth there for claims privilege over electronic emails. 

And, I guess, just in closing, Your Honor, I think it's just 

important to consider what the impact will be if the Court denies this 

motion.  So if the Court denies this motion, both sides are still going 

to do the same thing.  They're going to identify custodians that they 

think would have responsive emails, they're going to pull emails from 

those custodian's inboxes, and then due to the number of emails at 

issue, both sides are going to just select their own search terms and 

apply those to those inboxes.   

The emails are going to be produced, and then, inevitably, 

both sides are going to challenge the other with the search terms the 

other side chose.  They're going to say that, you know, United chose 

search terms that were unduly restrictive or didn't use search terms 

that it should have used.  And, frankly, we're going to say the same 

thing probably about their production, if they choose search terms.  

We're going to argue that they probably didn't pull them from the 

custodians they should have and that they should've used other 

search terms that we would've requested if we had the opportunity.   

And so this Court's going to be faced with multiple motions 

challenging each side's production of emails.  And what we've 

proposed is a way to avoid all that.  Each side proposes search terms 

and custodians that they want to the other side and that way 
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everything is transparent.  And if there does need to be motion work, 

it can be taken care of up front in the very near future rather than 

down the line after the parties review, you know, rolling production of 

emails and decide that they don't think the other side's production 

was sufficient.   

Thank you, Your Honor.   

THE COURT:  Thank you.   

And the opposition, please.  

MS. LUNDVALL:  Yes, Your Honor.   

Number one, I think I'd like to express my thanks to the 

Court for granting our Motion for Order Shortening Time to have this 

resolved -- this issue resolved as quickly as possible.   

I think it's important to point out the context in which that 

this email protocol -- and I underscore email protocol -- because this 

is not an ESI protocol.  You know, all The Sedona Conferences, they 

deal with ESI protocols and things of that nature.  But the protocol 

that is being propounded by United is limited to email.   

And this all started when we served our request for 

production, once again, back in December of 2019, and there was a 

dispute over two specific responses to requests for production, RFP 

13 and RFP 27.  Both of those RFPs are set forth in our opposition 

paper.   

RFP 13 says, Give us the email communication from specific 

individuals that I -- that were involved in a specific meeting with the 

healthcare provider representatives in December of 2017.  We 
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identified, with specificity, who at United was involved in this 

meeting.  They would have been the very obvious custodians plus 

any folks that would have been up their chain of command or down 

their chain of command.  And they objected to that.   

And, similarly, we had asked them, under our Request for 

Production 27, to give us any of the email communications that went 

between the internal email communications and back and forth 

between United and Fremont -- that discussed then any of the 

requests then by the plaintiffs or out-of-network provider costs as of 

July of 2017.  So two very specific dates.  (Indiscernible) to that as 

well.   

Now, beginning -- because this issue has been the subject of 

three separate meet and confers then between Ms. Gallagher and 

Ms. Perach, as well as Mr. Balkenbush at minimum on behalf of 

United.  And there have been varying proposals, but one point that 

was fairly well made, though, by Mr. Balkenbush, is that they had 

already gathered responsive documents to those two requests and 

that there were about a hundred thousands emails that were at issue.   

And at first, they said, yeah, they were reviewing those to 

determine which of them were going to be responsive to our request.  

Then they backtracked on that, and they started suggesting that, 

maybe they don't have to give it all to us, and maybe then we should 

come up with this email protocol instead.  And they suggested that 

they were not going to turn over any these emails that were already 

in counsel's possession for which they had already done their own 
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searches, for which they had already gathered as being responsive to 

these requests until the parties agreed upon this email protocol.  And 

if the parties couldn't agree upon this email protocol, until the Court 

had the opportunity for adjudication.   

So that's how this dispute then came to the Court.  Not 

because there were these broadened discussions about there was 

going to be a lot of email out there -- no, it was two very specific, very 

narrow requests for which they had already pulled the documents.  

And so let's take a look at them and at what their protocol offers and 

what, in fact, then that why it is that we have objection to their 

protocol.   

First, what they're suggesting to the Court is this:  That they 

shouldn't have to provide responses to our RFPs, particularly 13 and 

27 at all; only that they should have to comply with this email 

protocol instead.  And they cite then the two rules that allow them to 

make this request to the Court.  So first and foremost, you go to the 

rules to see whether or not that they've made the appropriate 

showing to get the relief that they are asking for from the Court.   

The first rule that they cite to is NRCP 26(b)(2)(C)(i).  And 

they argue to you that you must limit their obligations to produce 

discovery if, in fact, that the responses can be obtained from some 

other source that is more convenient, less burdensome, or less 

expensive.  That's what 26(b)(2)(C)(i) requires.   

So did they make such a showing?  No, they didn't even try.  

Moreover, they couldn't because what we're looking for is the 
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internal emails.  What was the chatter back and forth among the 

United executives, the United representatives that were involved in 

this very narrow meeting on these very narrow issues?  That was 

what we were interested in.  There's no alternative source other than 

United that has this information.   

So if, in fact, they have responsive emails -- which we know 

that they do because they've already identified that they've already 

gathered them, but they haven't given us a single one of them, then 

they can't point to any alternative source then for these internal 

emails.  So they can't rely upon that rule then as a foundation for 

their requests that the Court must order the parties then to engage in 

this email protocol.   

Number two is that they cite to Rule 26 (b)(2)(B), saying that 

they should be permitted a protective order because of some type of 

undue burden or cost.  Both their motion as well as their reply is 

entirely silent on the issue of emails and any undue burden or cost 

for the review of the emails that are already in possession of counsel.  

They're entirely silent on that particular point.  So in other words, 

they -- for the very two rules that they cite, they haven't made either 

one of the showings necessary to invoke the protection of those 

rules.  And quite candidly, that should be the end of hunt.   

But let me point, though, to the issues that we 

(indiscernible) with their email protocol.  And one of the points that I 

want to try to underscore once again is -- this is an ESI protocol that 

The Sedona Conferences -- that frequently look at.  This is an email 

000124



 

Page 55 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

protocol and an email protocol only. (Indiscernible) the number of 

custodians that are found within this and who chooses those 

custodians.   

So what they're suggesting to us is that that are nine 

different defendants and you only get to choose five custodians.  And 

we're not going to tell you who the folks are that were involved in this 

internal chatter back and forth on these meetings that we have when 

we were trying to pressure then the healthcare providers into 

accepting these written contracts then that demanded a discount then 

on what they were billing.  And for which at this very meeting when 

asked why it is that they were basically turning the economic screws 

then to the healthcare providers, the response was Because we can.   

But what we're trying to do is to figure out who and what 

they said as a result, either going into that meeting or as a result of it.  

And what were the other internal emails by which that they had 

exchanged back and forth among themselves when other 

conversations were being held as of July of 2017 concerning any of 

the relationship then between United and the healthcare providers.   

But what they want to do, though, is to say, In addition, to 

you only get five, we're not going to tell you what was involved in 

these conversations.  We asked interrogatories or them to identify 

who the folks that were involved in setting the rates of payment, who 

were the folks that were involved in making determinations about 

Data iSight and which of these claim were going to be adjudicated by 

Data iSight versus, you know, internally then within United.  They 
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say, we're not going to tell you that.  They won't identify the folks that 

realistically that we could say that may be a custodian.  What the 

(indiscernible) want us to do is they want to gather, they built this 

wall by refusing to answer any of our interrogatories around the 

identity of the health care representatives.  And what they're asking 

us to do is basically to shoot an arrow over that wall and hope it's 

going to go land on somebody that may have many some relevant 

information.  And then what they're saying is they're -- we're only 

going to give you five arrows in your quiver by which to do that.  And 

if you land on the right people, great; if you don't, too bad so sad.  

And we, United, have no obligation to look for those emails.  Even 

though that they're already in the possession of counsel at this point 

in time. 

The next thing is, is that they want the search term protocol 

then not to be a function -- that they want us to come up with the 

search terms for which that they're obligated then by which to run.  

Even though we don't know what it is or the language that they've 

used or the terms they used or the programs that they labelled or 

identification of these programs -- nothing of that nature.  We're still 

shooting in the dark as to internally what kind of a project that they 

utilized, and what they labelled the project, and what the results of 

this particular project may have been.   

But I think one thing is important to recognize and that is 

United's wandered down this path before.  As we set out in our First 

Amended Complaint, this isn't the first time that United has been 
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tagged with intentionally underbilling healthcare providers.  They 

were investigated by the Attorney General in the state of New York, 

and they were also subject to a class action claim for which resulted 

in, like, $450 million of settlement claims.  And don't you think that 

they may have learned a few things as to what terms to include and 

what terms not to include so as to ensure that whatever internal 

emails they may not (indiscernible).  So from this perspective, what 

they're trying to do is once again make us guess at what terms they 

may have used to define these programs.   

The last issue for which that we had major issue with the 

proposed protocol was this:  If they contend that there should be a 

presumptive privilege to the entire family of emails for which that an 

attorney may have touched.  So in other words if you got a long 

string of emails but the last person on that string that touched it -- 

that is an attorney, then the entire string is presumptively privileged.   

And, second, what they want to do so to say that, Oh, by the 

way, we're not going to give you a privilege log, we're going to give 

you a summary privilege log.  We're going to summarize the 

privilege, but we're not going to give you all of the terms that your 

(indiscernible) would require.  So what they're trying to do is to say, 

All right, when it comes to attorney privilege, we're not going to give 

you enough of the tools for which that you can look at and evaluate 

whether or not our application of the privilege has been properly 

done or not.  And, moreover, we're not going to even give it to you 

until 90 days after we give you the documents.  Well, guess what?  
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We're not going to give you the documents until at best, 45 days 

before the disclose of discovery, and we're not going to give you the 

log until 90 days thereafter.  So that means that that discovery is 

already closed, and, therefore, we can't go back then and to try to 

capture any of these documents to use during depositions.   

So what they've done is to try to create a situation and try to 

offer a proposal that, in grand terms, sounds reasonable because 

they sometimes refer to it as an ESI protocol and not limited to an 

email protocol.  But what they've done is they've put tasks into that 

protocol to shift the burden of their production to us to shoot in the 

dark and hope that we hit something before they have to produce it 

to us.  Rather than for us to give a narrow request like we did in our 

request for production 13 and 27 and for them to give us the 

documents that are responsive to one thousand three hundred 

twenty-seven.   

So, therefore, Your Honor, we would ask the Court then to -- 

not to embrace the protocol that they have proffered to the Court.  

Number one, they haven't made a showing for it.  Number two, the 

protocol itself then, which is all of their discovery obligations, then to 

the healthcare providers.  So we would ask the Court then to deny 

their motion.  Thank you.  

THE COURT:  Thank you.   

And the reply, please.   

MR. BALKENBUSH:  Thank you, Your Honor.   

There are a few things that I want to respond to that 
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Ms. Lundvall just raised.  The first is -- let's just address Request for 

Production 13 and 27.  This argument that United have a hundred 

thousand responsive emails that are just holding back, that are ready 

to be produced and that we're just using this to delay that.   

There's, I think, a little bit of misconception about the 

difference between emails that have been sent by a particular 

custodian and emails that are responsive to a discovery request.  So 

if United pulls emails from a particular custodian for a particular date 

range, and (indiscernible) -- let's say it's 10,000 emails for that date 

range -- all of those 10,000 emails from that custodian are not 

responsive to the plaintiff's discovery request.  The custodian sends 

emails about all kinds of things that have no relation to the claims at 

issue in this suit.  And so there's two ways to produce responsive 

emails from a custodian's inbox like that.  We can apply our own 

search terms to it and produce -- using the terms we appropriate.  Or 

they can give us the search terms they believe are appropriate, and 

we avoid the dispute down the road where they take issue with those 

terms we choose.   

So we're not holding back, you know, hundreds of 

thousands of responsive emails.  What we're trying to do is, before 

we apply our own search terms and make a production, see if we can 

work out an agreement that will avoid disputes down the road.  So I 

just wanted to make that clear to the Court -- that we're not just 

sitting on emails ready to produce that we know are responsive. 

And, second, I wanted to raise the -- she mentioned that this 
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idea that we're -- this is all about United wanting to delay and not 

produce emails, but I think -- before this hearing, I spent some time -- 

because I wanted to make sure before I made this statement, that it's 

accurate -- but the healthcare providers in this case have themselves 

not produced a single internal email.  None.   

So if -- I mean, the idea that this is all about United is just 

inaccurate.  And if the motion is denied and the protocol is not 

entered, certainly this Court can expect a Motion to Compel from 

United trying to force the providers to produce their own internal 

email correspondence.  So, surely, internal emails have not been 

produced for either side.   

So we have an interest in this protocol, not just in avoiding 

disputes on our own production, but in ensuring that the healthcare 

providers make an adequate production themselves and themselves 

are not choosing search terms and custodians that are going to 

unfairly shield their information that we believe we're entitled to, to 

prove that the bill charges were excessive and inflated and that the 

amounts paid by United were appropriate. 

Second, Ms. Lundvall raised the issue of Rule 26 and, in 

particular, argued at length that United has not made a showing that 

the information -- these emails are not reasonably accessible.  But if 

the Court will look at Rule 26, you'll notice the section that she didn't 

reference was Rule 26(c)(1)(C), which states that the Court may enter 

a protective order and that -- and list reasons one may issue.  One is 

that an order may issued prescribing a discovery method other than 
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the one selected by the parties seeking discovery.   

So Rule 26(c) expressly gives this Court the authority -- and 

The Sedona Principles that I mentioned earlier support this --  it gives 

the Court the authority to modify how discovery is conducted in this 

case and to ensure that it's done in a fair and transparent and 

streamlined manner.  So Rule 26 absolutely provides authority for 

this Court to enter the protocol that we've proposed. 

Next -- and Ms. Lundvall made the argument that what this 

is, is it's not an ESI protocol.  And, I think -- although she didn't state 

this --  I think where this argument is coming from, Your Honor, is if 

you look at their briefing, they never address our extensive argument 

discussion of The Sedona Principles.  And they know that if you look 

at The Sedona Principles and the cases interpreting those, that those 

principles strongly support entering the protocol we've proposed, or 

at least one similar to it, maybe with some minor modifications if 

there's some excuse about custodians or timelines and when things 

should be produced.   

And so to get around The Sedona Principles and the case 

law supporting those, they tried to argue that this is not an ESI 

protocol.  ESI is electronically stored information.  Emails are ESI.  So 

this is an ESI protocol.  It clearly falls under The Sedona Principles 

and they support it being entered.   

And then, you know, a couple other points -- Ms. Lundvall 

brought up this issue of, you know, prior lawsuits against United, 

investigations by attorney generals and saying beside the fact that --  
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THE COURT:  I thought that was in the complaint, but I'm 

not considering that today.   

MR. BALKENBUSH:  Fair enough, Your Honor.  The only 

point I wanted to make is that obviously we dispute all that, but 

let's -- even assuming that United is such a bad actor, they should 

want to select the search terms we're using.  If we're such a bad 

actor, they should want to be the ones to, you know, selecting the 

custodians and search terms.  And we want to be the ones selecting 

the search terms and custodians that they used.  So both parties have 

very strong views of this case and each other's roles.  And that's why 

we think having the parties selected search terms and custodians that 

they want from the other side, makes sense. 

And then, I guess, just finally, Your Honor, this issue of the 

privilege log -- presumptive privilege that Ms. Lundvall raised -- you 

know, and the timeline for that -- we put a timeline in there for 

production of the privilege log.  We're fine with shortening that, and 

we would have been happy to shorten that if the plaintiffs had 

negotiated the protocol with us.  They just refused to engage at all on 

it.  They refused to talk -- you know -- say, Well, what about 30 days 

or 15 days or 20 days?  They just didn't engage so we put in there 

what we thought was appropriate.  But if the Court believes a 

shortened time for production of the privilege log for ESI is 

appropriate, we would be fine with that.   

That's all I have, Your Honor, thank you.   

THE COURT:  Thank you, both.   
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This is the Defendant's Motion for Protective Order with 

regard to e-discovery and to compel a protocol for the retrieval and 

production of email.  Motion's going to be denied for the following 

reasons:    

First, what I find is that it is the defendant's effort to avoid a 

Motion to Compel on those discovery requests one thousand three 

hundred seventeen.  It really just is an email protocol and not an ESI 

protocol.  It's -- it would unreasonably hamper the Plaintiff from 

obtaining information with regard to identity of custodians and 

information that, I believe, will be discoverable.  But -- so I'm going to 

deny the motion, but I am going to order both parties to meet and 

confer with regard to a more comprehensive electronic discovery 

protocol and to report back at our continued hearing on the 30th.   

It's not fair for the Plaintiff to determine those search terms 

and custodians before it has complete access to determine how to 

prioritize (indiscernible).  The Plaintiff has the burden of proof here, 

and so I find that this was simply an effort to -- an unreasonable push 

to cutting off the Plaintiff from doing a meaningful discovery.   

So, Ms. Lundvall, prepare the order.  Mr. Balkenbush, I 

assume you wish to approve the form with that before it's submitted?   

MR. BALKENBUSH:  Yes, thank you, Your Honor.  

MS. LUNDVALL:  Thank you, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  And you're both willing to negotiate in good 

faith with regard to a comprehensive ESI protocol?   

MS. LUNDVALL:  We are, Your Honor.  But what I wanted to 
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try --  

THE COURT:  (Indiscernible).  

MS. LUNDVALL:  -- to confer is that the parties, both sides, 

still have a duty and an obligation to move forward with their 

discovery obligations, and they can't just sit back on their hands then 

and wait until there's been some type of a protocol that's been 

negotiated before having to tender then their responsive documents.  

THE COURT:  That is correct, Ms. Lundvall.   

MS. LUNDVALL:  Thank you, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  And I do -- and then if you guys have Motions 

to Compel on either side, because I heard it from both sides, I would 

consider those also on the 30th.  

MS. LUNDVALL:  Thank you, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  We might as well just tackle this.  

MS. LUNDVALL:  We appreciate that very much, Your 

Honor.  

THE COURT:  All right.  So does -- do either of you have any 

questions or anything further to say before we adjourn for today?  

No?   

MS. LUNDVALL:  Not today, Your Honor.   

THE COURT:  Until I see you next, everybody stay safe and 

stay healthy.  

MR. ROBERTS:  Not from United.  Thank you for all your 

time, Your Honor.  We appreciate your indulgence and how much 

time you give us.  

000134



 

Page 65 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

MS. LUNDVALL:  Thank you very much.  

MR. BALKENBUSH:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

[Proceedings adjourned at 3:26 p.m.]  

 

* * * * * * * * 
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